

Journal of Chromatography A, 808 (1998) 23-41

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY A

Review

Protein phosphorylation: technologies for the identification of phosphoamino acids

Jun X. Yan, Nicolle H. Packer, Andrew A. Gooley, Keith L. Williams^{*}

Macquarie University Centre for Analytical Biotechnology, School of Biological Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney NSW 2109, Australia

Received 30 September 1997; received in revised form 15 January 1998; accepted 9 February 1998

Abstract

Protein phosphorylation plays a central role in many biological and biomedical phenomena. In this review, while a brief overview of the occurrence and function of protein phosphorylation is given, the primary focus is on studies related to the detection and analysis of phosphorylation both in vivo and in vitro. We focus on phosphorylation of serine, threonine and tyrosine, the most commonly phosphorylated amino acids in eukaryotes. Technologies such as radiolabelling, antibody recognition, chromatographic methods (HPLC, TLC), electrophoresis, Edman sequencing and mass spectrometry are reviewed. We consider the speed, simplicity and sensitivity of tools for detection and identification of protein phosphorylation, as well as quantitation and site characterisation. The limitations of currently available methods are summarised. © 1998 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Phosphoamino acids; Amino acids; Serine; Threonine; Tyrosine

Contents

1.	Introduction	24
	1.1. Nature and occurrence of phosphoamino acids	24
	1.2. Function of phosphorylation	25
2.	Detection of protein phosphorylation	27
	2.1. Radiolabelling	27
	2.2. Antibodies	30
	2.3. Fluorescence labelling	30
3.	Identification of phosphorylation by determination of phosphoamino acids	31
	3.1. Hydrolysis	31
	3.2. Separation of phosphoamino acids	32
	3.2.1. TLC and/or electrophoresis (one or two-dimensional)	32
	3.2.2. HPLC separation	33
	3.2.3. Mass spectrometry	33
	3.3. Quantitation of phosphoamino acids	34
	3.3.1. ³² P labelling of phosphoamino acids	34

0021-9673/98/\$19.00 © 1998 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved. PII: S0021-9673(98)00115-0

^{*}Corresponding author.

3.3.2. HPLC	34
3.3.3. Chemical derivatisation and HPLC or Edman sequencing	34
3.4. Sites of phosphorylation	35
3.4.1. Preparation of phosphopeptides	35
3.4.2. Edman degradation sequencing	36
3.4.3. Mass spectrometry	36
3.5. Proteome phosphorylation strategy	37
4. Conclusions	38
Acknowledgements	38
References	38

1. Introduction

Protein phosphorylation has increasingly become the focus of attention in cell biology and biomedical sciences because it is intimately involved in signal transduction, cell division and cancer [1-3]. Esterification of an amino acid side chain by the addition of phosphate, causes conformational changes in the protein and as a consequence altered protein activity or stability [4,5]. While it is now clear that protein phosphorylation acts as an on/off switch for many biochemical functions, only a subset of phosphoproteins is known, and the specificity of many of the enzymes involved in phosphate addition or removal remains obscure. The identification of phosphoproteins is possible by many direct and indirect means, but the localisation of the sites of phosphorylation remains a technical challenge. Here we address the status of knowledge of the characterisation of protein phosphorylation, particularly the identification of phosphoamino acids.

1.1. Nature and occurrence of phosphoamino acids

Protein phosphorylation is catalysed by a class of enzymes referred to as protein kinases, while removal of phosphate is controlled by a class of enzymes called phosphatases. The typical acceptors for eukaryotic phosphorylation are the hydroxyamino acids serine (Ser), threonine (Thr) and tyrosine (Tyr), while bacteria favor the use of histidine (His) and the carboxyamino acids [aspartic acid (Asp) and glutamic acid (Glu)] as phosphoacceptors [6]. However, many reports have shown that the abovementioned sites of phosphorylation are ubiquitous both in prokaryotes and eukaryotes [6]. Lysine (Lys) [7], arginine (Arg) [8] and cysteine (Cys) [9] have also been identified as phosphate acceptors in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes.

Fig. 1 shows the structure of the phosphoamino acids known to be synthesised biologically. Although the order of chemical stability of free phospho-Ser [Ser(P)], phospho-Thr [Thr(P)] and phospho-Tyr [Tyr(P)] have been reported to differ [10–12], from a general point of view, the detection of O-phosphates after acid hydrolysis of proteins is possible because hydrolysis of the phosphomonoester bonds in the protein is considerably slower in acid than the hydrolysis of peptide bonds [13]. However, Tyr(P) contained in a protein, and as a single residue, is stable in alkali, and base hydrolysis is often recommended for the detection of phosphorylated Tyr(P) [14]. The properties of Tyr(P) differ significantly from Ser(P) and Thr(P) because of the hydrophobic benzene ring and the greater molecular mass. In addition, the β -elimination reaction which removes phosphate from Ser and Thr cannot occur on Tyr(P), so this analytical approach cannot be used.

Other phosphoamino acids, such as phospho-His [His(P)], phospho-Cys [Cys(P)] and phospho-Asp have been shown to be the phosphorylated reaction intermediates in several enzymes [15,16] and are unstable under the conditions of standard protein purification procedures [17]. It has been reported that His(P) is extremely acid labile [18]. Although there is an emerging awareness of critical roles of His(P) and Cys(P) in regulation, analytical techniques are limited, as detection is generally based on radio-labelling and an enzymatic approach, which is limited by the available enzymes (e.g., transmembrane histidine kinase [19]). We concentrate on the identification of Ser(P), Thr(P) and Tyr(P) in this review.



$$\begin{array}{c} OH & O \\ I & I \\ O = P - O - C - CH_2 - CH_2 - CH - C - OH \\ I & I \\ OH & O & NH_2 \end{array}$$

phospho-glutamic acid

Fig. 1. The chemical structures of the phosphoamino acids known to be formed biologically.

1.2. Function of phosphorylation

Protein phosphorylation plays a central role in signalling pathways by providing the means for transducing extracellular signals and coordinating

 N^{ω} -phospho-arginine

intracellular events. It is a major regulator of the processes of gene expression and protein synthesis which determine cell growth, division or differentiation [6,20]. Since protein phosphorylation occurs by the reaction of protein kinases, a great body of research has been focused on studies of the structure and function of protein kinases [21–23]. There is a World Wide Web site available on the Internet as a protein kinase resource (http://www.sdsc.edu/kinases/pk_home.html) which contains information on the protein kinase family of enzymes. Many of these studies have focused on identifying the amino acid motif(s), the site(s) of phosphorylation in phosphoprotein(s) or synthetic peptides, which are recognised by specific kinases. Table 1 summarises the suggested motifs for Ser, Thr and Tyr phosphorylation by different protein kinases [24–51]. These

Table 1

Summary of phosphorylation sequence motifs recognised by various kinases

Ser/Thr phosphorylation Bone morphogenetic proteins receptor kinase TGF-beta family mediator Small [24] Ser-Ser-Xaa-Ser(P) Bone morphogenetic proteins receptor kinase TGF-beta family mediator Small [24] Arg-Xaa-Arg-Yaa-Zaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Hyd, Protein kinase B Synthetic peptide [25] Ser(P)-Xaa-Ala CGMP-dependent kinase Lentivirus Vif proteins [28] Glu-Val-Glu-Ser(P) c-Myb kinase Vertebrate c-Myb proteins [28] Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Cyclin-dependent Cyclin A or E [31] Pro-Xaa (basic) Kriase 2 Raf protein [32] Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein kinase Raf protein [33] Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Sar(P) Glycogen synthase Pil protein (glaB gene product) [34] Kaa-Xaa-Xaa-Sar(P) Glycogen synthase Myelin basic protein [35] Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Sar(P) Glycogen synthase [36] Garanid-activated protein kinase Fur(P)-Xaa, Ama-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Ca ³⁺ /aclmodulin-dependent Myelin basic protein [35] Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Maer(P)/ Ca ³⁺ /aclamodulin-dependent Myelin basic protein [35] Ser-Xaa-Giu-Ser(P) Casein kinase I Bo	Sequence motif ^a	Enzyme	Protein (substrate)	Ref.
Ser-Sar-Xaa-Ser(P)Bone morphogenetic proteins receptor kinaseTGF-beta family mediator Small[24] receptor kinaseArg-Xaa-Arg-Yaa-Zaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Hyd, Ser(P)-L-ac-Iin-Xaa-AlaProtein kinase BSynthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[25] Synthetic peptide[27] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[26] Synthetic peptide[27] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[27] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[27] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[28] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[27] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[28] Cast Alpha 1 Nak-ArTase[29,30] Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein SoSer(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)Cyclin-dependent kinaseVertebrate C-Myb proteins[28] Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein SoSer(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)Cyclin-dependent protein kinaseRaf protein[32] Cast Alpha 2 Nak-ArTase[33] Cast Alpha 2 Nak-ArTase[34] Cast Alpha 2 Nak-ArTaseArg-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Cast KinaseMyelin basic protein[35] Cast Alpha 2 Nak-ArTase[36] Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ara-Myd, protein kinase IMyelin basic protein[37] Sa Sa Sa Sa Sa Sa Cast Kinase IBovine osteopontin, vitamin K-dependent matrix Gla protein kinase[39] Sa<	Ser/Thr phosphorylation			
receptor kinase B Arg-Xaa-Arg-Yaa-Zaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Hyd. Protein kinase C Alpha 1 Na.K-ATPase [26] Ser(P)-Leu-Gin-Xaa-Ala CMP-dependent kinase C Leutivus Vi proteins [27] Glu-Val-Glu-Ser(P) Phosphotransferase C-Myb kinase Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Phosphotransferase Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic) Cyclin-dependent Protein Kinase Cyclin A or E Thr(P)-Leu-Pro-Xaa (basic) Cyclin-dependent Cyclin A or E Thr(P)-Leu-Pro-Xaa (basic) Cyclin-dependent protein serine kinase Camp-Ataa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase CAMP responsive element [33] Arg-Xaa-Arg-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase CAMP responsive element [34] Arg-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Caven synthase CAMP responsive element [35] Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thr protein kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Cavein kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Cavein kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Cavein kinase Ser-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Cavein kinase Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase II Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Serine kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase II Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Serine kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase II Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Serine kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase II Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Serine kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Serine kinase Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Serine kinase Serine kinase	Ser-Ser-Xaa-Ser(P)	Bone morphogenetic proteins	TGF-beta family mediator Smad1	[24]
Arg-Xaa-Arg-Yaa-Zaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Hyd, Protein kinase B Synthetic peptide [25] Ser(P)-Xaa-His Protein kinase C Alpha 1 Na,K-ATPace [26] Ser(P)-Leu-Gin-Xaa-Ala CGMP-dependent kinase Lentivirus Vif proteins [28] Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) e-Myb kinase Vertebrate e-Myb proteins [28] Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) Phosphotransferase Serum response factor, c-Fox, [29,30] Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein S6 Cyclin-dependent kinase Cyclin A or E [31] Fro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic) kinase 2 Raf protein [32] Ser-Ama-Xaa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein kinase PII protein (glnB gene product) [33] Ser-Xaa-(Xaa)-Ser(P)/ Autophosphorylation-dependent Myelin basic protein [34] Kinase 3 binding protein [35] Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Autophosphorylation-dependent Peptide analogues [36] Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Cas'in kinase Ia Sovine osteopontin, vitamin [37,38] Krd-Azaa-Aig-Ser(P) Cas'en kinase II Bovine osteopontin, vitamin [40] Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase II Bovine osteopontin [41] Xaa-Ser(P)		receptor kinase		
Ser(P)-Xaa-HisProtein kinase CAlpha I. Na,K-ATPase[26]Ser(P)-Leu-Gin-Xaa-AlacGMP-dependent kinaseLentivirus Vif proteins[27]Glu-Val-Glu-Ser(P)c-Myb kinaseVertebrate c-Myb proteins[28]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)PhosphotransferaseSerum response factor, c-Fos, [29,30][29],30]Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein S 6Serum response factor, c-Fos, [29,30][31]Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)kinase 2[31]Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)kinase 2[31]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein kinaseRd protein[32]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Glycogen synthasecAMP responsive element[34]kinase 3binding protein[35]Arg-Xaa-Caa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thrprotein kinase la[36][36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Aaa-Ser(P)/Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Cascin kinase IBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37],38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Cascin kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Sra-Saer(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-AraaProline-directed protein kinaseTup orbin[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arag-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Cascin kinase IBovine osteopontin[39]Yaa-Saer(P)-Pro-Arag-LysProline-directed protein kinaseTup orbin[40]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) <td>Arg-Xaa-Arg-Yaa-Zaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Hyd,</td> <td>Protein kinase B</td> <td>Synthetic peptide</td> <td>[25]</td>	Arg-Xaa-Arg-Yaa-Zaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Hyd,	Protein kinase B	Synthetic peptide	[25]
Ser(P)-Leu-Gin-Xaa-AlaCGMP-dependent kinaseLentivins Vif proteins[27]Glu-Val-Giu-Ser(P)c-Myb kinaseVerebrate c-Myb proteins[28]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)PhosphotransferaseSerum response factor, c-Fos,[29,30]Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein SGSer(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa(basic)kinase 2[31]Thr(P)-Leu-ProCaranide-activated protein kinaseRaf protein[32]Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinaseRaf protein[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Sacr(P)Caranide-activated protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[34]Hyd-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ²⁺ / calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser(P)/Cascin kinase IaSer-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,protein kinase Ia[37]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Cascin kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37]Sac-SerAp-Droo-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, spern-specific[41,42]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Man-Glu-Ser(P)Cascin kinase IIBovine osteopontin[40]Ser-Yaa-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Proo-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, spern-specific[41,42]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-MateProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[43]Thr(P)-Met-Asan-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr phosphorylationTyr phosphorylationTry[41-42]Tyr P)-Xaa-Xaa-Leuin cytoplasmic	Ser(P)-Xaa-His	Protein kinase C	Alpha 1 Na,K-ATPase	[26]
Glu-Val-Glu-Ser(P) c-Myb kinase Vertberate c-Myb proteins [28] Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Phosphotransferase Serum response factor, c-Fos, proteins [29,30] Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein S6 Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic) Kinase 2 [31] Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa(basic) kinase 2 Raf protein [32] Arg-Xaa-Ser(P) CAMP-dependent protein kinase Raf protein (glnB gene product) [33] Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P) Glycogen synthase cAMP responsive element [34] Arg-Xaa-Aara-Sar(P)/ CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase Protein glnB gene product) [35] Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent Myelin basic protein [36] Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent Potie analogues [36] Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent Potien form shark, lamb, rat, cow and human [37,38] Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase I Bovine osteopontin, vitamin [37] Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase II Bovine osteopontin [40] Sar-Ara-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P) Casein kinase Tau protein [40] Ser-Ara-Yaa-Glu-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-Lys Histone H1 kinase Sea-urchin, sperm-specific [41,42]	Ser(P)-Leu-Gln-Xaa-Ala	cGMP-dependent kinase	Lentivirus Vif proteins	[27]
Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)PhosphotransferaseSerum response factor, c-Fos, Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein S6[29,30] Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal protein S6Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)Kinase 2[31]Thr(P)-Leu-ProCeramide-activated protein kinaseRaf protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePil protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Glycogen synthasecAMP responsive element[34]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Autophosphorylation-dependentWyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thrprotein kinaseHydeln basic protein[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Asa-Ser(P)Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase laSovine osteopontin, vitamin[37],38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IISovine osteopontin[40]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseTau protein[41]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-MetCytoplasmic tailK-dependent protein[42]Ser-Yn-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-MetCytoplasmic tailCD28Cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr phosphorylationTry(P)-Met-Xaa-MetCytoplasmic tailFan-Aro-Ara-Ara-Ara[47]Tyr phosphorylation <td< td=""><td>Glu–Val–Glu–Ser(P)</td><td>c-Myb kinase</td><td>Vertebrate c-Myb proteins</td><td>[28]</td></td<>	Glu–Val–Glu–Ser(P)	c-Myb kinase	Vertebrate c-Myb proteins	[28]
Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)Cyclin-dependentCyclin A or E[31]Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa(basic)kinase 2Raf protein A or E[32]Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein kinaseRaf protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)CaMP-dependent protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)CaWP-dependentMyelin basic protein[34]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca**/calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,protein kinaseBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37],38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-AragProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[41]Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseEa-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-Lys/Arginstones H1 and H2BHard Protein[43]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,cytoplasmic tailKase,[47]Tyr(P)-Mat-Asa-Metcytoplasmic domain[43]Tyr(P)-Mat-Asa-Metcytoplasmic domain[43]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Focal adhesion kinase,Mast cell f	Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)	Phosphotransferase	Serum response factor, c-Fos,	[29,30]
Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)Volin A or E[31]Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa(basic)kinase 2Thr(P)-Leu-ProCaramide-activated protein kinaseRaf protein (glnB gene product)[33]Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePil protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Sacr(P)Glycogen synthasecAMP responsive element[34]kinase 3binding protein[35]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentWpelin basic protein[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IaSovine osteopontin, vitamin[37,38]K-dependent matrix Gla protein form shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[37]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Yaa-Xae-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[41]Ser-Yaa-Xae-Glu-Ser(P)Serine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Serine kinaseTau protein[44]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Clu-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]histones H1 and H2BTry phosphorylationTury phosphorylation[44]Tyr phosphorylationFeceptorTury (D-Xaa-Xaa-Met[47]Ty			Nur77 and the 40S ribosomal	
Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)Cyclin-dependentCyclin A or E[31]Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa(basic)kinase 2Raf protein[32]Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-erro-Xaa(basic)Camide-activated protein kinaseRaf protein[33]Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Glycogen synthasecAMP responsive element[34]Minase 3binding protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca*' (calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Asa-Hyd,protein kinase la[36][37]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37],38]K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arga-LysHistone H1 kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys/Arg Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationreceptor[44]-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-MetPhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44]-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-MetPhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44]-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-Metcytoplasmic tail[47]in cytoplasmic dimain[47]Asa-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>protein S6</td><td></td></td<>			protein S6	
Pro-Xaa-Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa(basic)kinase 2Thr(P)-Leu-ProCeramide-activated protein kinaseRaf protein (glnB gene product)[33]Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Sacr(P)Glycogen synthasecAMP responsive element[34]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ²⁺ (calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Xa-Xaa-Xaa-Arg-Hyd,protein kinase laBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinase, inreceptor[44]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[41]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, infore casein cinase, in[41]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, inreceptor[41]Glyco-Mather Asa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[41]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, inreceptor[4	Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa (basic)	Cyclin-dependent	Cyclin A or E	[31]
Thr(P)-Leu-ProCeramide-activated protein kinaseRaf protein[32]Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Glycogen synthaseDining protein[34]Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thrprotein kinaseMyelin basic protein[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ³⁺ (calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,protein kinase laK-dependent matrix Gla[37]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]histone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]histone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]histone H1 and H2BIntergin beta-3[47]Tyr (P)-Met-Asan-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asan-Met,Phosphatik idalin cytoplasmic tail[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, inreceptor[47]in cytoplasmic tailFrodenastic tail[48][16]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase, in[48][16]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationIn	Pro-Xaa- Thr(P) -Pro-Xaa(basic)	kinase 2	-	
Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)CAMP-dependent protein serine kinasePII protein (glnB gene product)[33]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Glycogen synthase (alkase 3 binding protein(34)Arg-Xaa-(Xaa)-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Asr-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca*'calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Asa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca*'calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[37]Yd-Xaa-Araa-Xaa-Saa-Ber(P)Casein kinase Ia[37][37]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin rat, cow and human[39]Saa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseBovine osteopontin[40]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin[41]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin[41]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[41]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Serine-kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Ser(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphorylationCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-MetScinase, inreceptor[47]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-AmetScinase, inreceptor[47]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Focial afbesion kinase, in c	Thr(P)-Leu-Pro	Ceramide-activated protein kinase	Raf protein	[32]
Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Glycogen synthase kinase 3cAMP responsive element[34] binding proteinArg-Xaa-(Xaa)-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thrprotein kinase[36]Hyd-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Sar(P)/Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,protein kinase Ia[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IaBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37,38]K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[40]Ser-Xaa-Calu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[40]Ser-Xaa-Sae-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[41]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTryr(P)-Met-Asan-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asan-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Ma-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in receptor[47][40]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationTyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationTyr	Arg-Xaa-Ser(P)	CAMP-dependent protein serine kinase	PII protein (glnB gene product)	[33]
kinase 3binding proteinArg-Xaa-(Xaa)-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca*'/calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)Ca*'/calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IaBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37,38]K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[39]Xaa-Ser(P)Ser-Xaa-Calu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-ArgProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgFoine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Met3-kinase, in receptorreceptor[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Protein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationTyr kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)	Glycogen synthase	cAMP responsive element	[34]
Arg-Xaa-(Xaa)-Ser(P)/Autophosphorylation-dependentMyelin basic protein[35]Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser(Thrprotein kinaseindependentPeptide analogues[36]Hyd-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Axaa-Hyd,protein kinase laindependentSer-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)[37]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Yaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[41]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[41]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgK-dependent matrix Gla[41]Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-MetS-triase, inreceptorTyr(P)-Mat-Asa-MetCytoplasmic tail[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainTyr kinase,[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation[50]Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]		kinase 3	binding protein	
Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thrprotein kinaseprotein kinaseHyd-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/Ca ^{*+} /calmodulin-dependentPeptide analogues[36]Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,protein kinase IaBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin, vitamin[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[40]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgSerine kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asa-MetS-kinase, inreceptorreceptorTyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tailSen-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),[44]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase, inmats cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasefitogen-activated protein kinasefitogen-activated protein kinasefitogen-activated protein kinase	Arg-Xaa-(Xaa)-Ser(P)/	Autophosphorylation-dependent	Myelin basic protein	[35]
Hyd-Xaa-Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Ser(P)/ Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IaPeptide analogues[36]Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin, vitamin k-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, spern-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, spern-specific[41,42]Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Met3-kinase, in receptorreceptor[47]Jin cytoplasmic tailAsn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic domainIntergin beta-3[47]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasef38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Thr(P)-Xaa-Ser/Thr	protein kinase		
Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Axaa-Hyd, Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)protein kinase IaBovine osteopontin, vitamin K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Saa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin, vitamin K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[39]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase II Proline-directed protein kinaseBovine osteopontin Tau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Axg-Lys Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/Arg Lys-Ser(P)-ProHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific histones H1 and H2BLys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylation Tyr(P)-Met-Asan-Met, Tyr(P)-Met-Asan-MetPhosphatidylinositol s-kinase, in receptorCD28 T cell costimulatory receptor[44-46] receptorTyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuPhosphatidylinositol in cytoplasmic domain in cytoplasmic domain Protein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3 m cytoplasmic domain in cytoplasmic tail[47] in cytoplasmic domain in cytoplasmic tailGlu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase Mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]	Hyd–Xaa–Arg–Xaa–Xaa–Ser(P)/	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent	Peptide analogues	[36]
Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinaseBovine osteopontin, vitamin K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and human[37,38]Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific histones H1 and H2B[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asan-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asan-Metcytoplasmic tailreceptor[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic domainIntergin beta-3[47]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kindegen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Thr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-Hyd,	protein kinase Ia		
K-dependent matrix Gla protein from shark, lamb, rat, cow and humanSer-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IISaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSer(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgSeine kinaseLys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseTyr phosphorylationSerine kinase, in receptorTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met, Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-MetPhosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, in in cytoplasmic tailAsn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P), in cytoplasmic tailFocal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic tailTyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailGlu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseDual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationHitogen-activated protein kinaseThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinaseThr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinaseSerier StrikeSynthetic peptidesSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSynthetic peptidesSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier StrikeSerier Strike <tr< td=""><td>Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)</td><td>Casein kinase</td><td>Bovine osteopontin, vitamin</td><td>[37,38]</td></tr<>	Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)	Casein kinase	Bovine osteopontin, vitamin	[37,38]
Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr phosphorylationSerine kinase, inreceptor[41,42]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Maet3-kinase, inreceptor[41,42]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainprotein Tyr kinase,[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationHitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Cau-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51][51]			K-dependent matrix Gla	
Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]histones H1 and H2BLys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51][50]			protein from shark, lamb,	
Ser-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)Casein kinase IIBovine osteopontin[39]Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific histones H1 and H2B[41,42]Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/ArgSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationCD28 T cell costimulatory receptor[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory receptor[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Met3-kinase, in receptorreceptorTyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tail[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinase in cytoplasmic tailSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationHitogen-activated protein kinase Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Clu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51][50]			rat, cow and human	
Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-XaaProline-directed protein kinaseTau protein[40]Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific[41,42]histones H1 and H2BLys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainprotein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationMitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Ser-Xaa-Xaa-Glu-Ser(P)	Casein kinase II	Bovine osteopontin	[39]
Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-LysHistone H1 kinaseSea-urchin, sperm-specific histones H1 and H2B[41,42] histones H1 and H2BLys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylation Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory receptor[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory receptor[44-46]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Met3-kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseMast cell function-associated antigen in cytoplasmic tail[48]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation Thr(P)-Caa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51][51]	Xaa-Ser(P)/Thr(P)-Pro-Xaa	Proline-directed protein kinase	Tau protein	[40]
Ser(P)-Pro-Lys/Arg-Lys/Arghistones H1 and H2BLys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[47]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainProtein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationMitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51][51]	Ser-Pro-Arg-Lys-Ser(P)-Pro-Arg-Lys	Histone H1 kinase	Sea-urchin, sperm-specific	[41,42]
Lys-Ser(P)-ProSerine kinaseMurine neurofilament protein[43]Tyr phosphorylationTyr (P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[47]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainProtein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase[51][51]	Ser(P)–Pro–Lys/Arg–Lys/Arg		histones H1 and H2B	
Tyr phosphorylationTyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptor[47]Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tail[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domain[48][48]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51][51]	Lys-Ser(P)-Pro	Serine kinase	Murine neurofilament protein	[43]
Tyr phosphorylationTyr (P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptorTyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tail(47)Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainProtein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationMitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]				
Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,PhosphatidylinositolCD28 T cell costimulatory[44-46]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, inreceptorTeceptorTyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase,Intergin beta-3[47]in cytoplasmic domainProtein Tyr kinase,Mast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Tyr phosphorylation			
Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met3-kinase, in cytoplasmic tailreceptorTyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tailIntergin beta-3[47]Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic domainIntergin beta-3[47]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationMitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep18 mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Tyr(P)-Met-Asn-Met,	Phosphatidylinositol	CD28 T cell costimulatory	[44-46]
Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Metcytoplasmic tailAsn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic domainIntergin beta-3[47]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Met	3-kinase, in	receptor	
Asn-Pro-Xaa-Tyr(P),Focal adhesion kinase, in cytoplasmic domainIntergin beta-3[47]Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseJast Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Tyr(P)-Met-Xaa-Met	cytoplasmic tail	-	
in cytoplasmic domainTyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationMitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Asn-Pro-Xaa- Tyr (P),	Focal adhesion kinase,	Intergin beta-3	[47]
Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-LeuProtein Tyr kinase, in cytoplasmic tailMast cell function-associated antigen[48]Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile-Tyr(P)Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationThr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein kinase[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	• • •	in cytoplasmic domain	-	
in cytoplasmic tail Glu–Asp–Ala–Ile– Tyr (P) Protein Tyr kinase Synthetic peptides [49] Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation Thr (P)–Xaa– Tyr (P) Mitogen-activated protein kinase p38 mitogen-activated protein [50] Thr (P)–Glu– Tyr (P) Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase [51]	Tyr(P)-Xaa-Xaa-Leu	Protein Tyr kinase,	Mast cell function-associated antigen	[48]
Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile- Tyr(P) Protein Tyr kinaseSynthetic peptides[49]Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation Thr(P) -Xaa- Tyr(P) Mitogen-activated protein kinase p 38 mitogen-activated protein kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[50] Thr(P) -Glu- Tyr(P) Mitogen-activated protein kinase[51]		in cytoplasmic tail	-	
Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylationMitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Glu-Asp-Ala-Ile- Tyr(P)	Protein Tyr kinase	Synthetic peptides	[49]
Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinasep38 mitogen-activated protein[50]Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinaseMitogen-activated protein kinase[51]	Dual Thr and Tyr phosphorylation			
Thr(P)–Glu–Tyr(P) Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase Mitogen-activated protein kinase [51]	Thr(P)-Xaa-Tyr(P)	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	p38 mitogen-activated protein	[50]
	Thr(P)-Glu-Tyr(P)	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	[51]

^a Xaa is any amino acid, Yaa and Zaa are small residues other than Gly, Hyd is hydrophobic amino acid residue Phe or Leu. The extended total environment of N- or C-terminal amino acids adjacent to the phosphorylation site is not stated.

phosphorylation sequence motifs have directly provided structural information on the binding site/ domain and interaction between kinase and its substrate [25,47], and therefore provided an understanding of the kinase signal transduction pathway, and the regulation of phosphorylation. In addition, if a common phosphorylation sequence motif can be identified it will provide a useful indication of potential sites of phosphorylation for further study. In practice it is clear that there is no simple motif for protein phosphorylation. The suggested motifs (Table 1) for phosphorylation are certainly not highly conserved although charged amino acids are frequently found near the phosphorylation site. In addition, the motifs presented in the literature do not always cover both the N- and C-terminal amino acids adjacent to the phosphorylation site and thus the contribution of the total environment about the site cannot be determined. One possible strategy to identify phosphorylation motifs would involve the use of artificial neural networks to predict amino acid sequences that are phosphorylated. This approach has been used by the Centre for Biological Sequence Analysis at the Technical University of Denmark where servers are available to predict O-glycosylation in mammals and Dictyostelium, post-translational cleavage by picornaviral proteases and signal peptide cleavage sites (see http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/ services/).

As well as basic housekeeping roles, protein phosphorylation is also used in many special functions. It is not the purpose of this review to be comprehensive about the function of phosphorylation, but the scope of its importance is demonstrated by the following examples. Ser phosphorylation has been shown to be important in enhancing transcriptional activation in vivo of the cellular p53 oncogene protein [52,53]. Thr phosphorylation influences catalytic activity in the catalytic subunit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase expressed in Escherichia coli [54]. In neural function, phosphoproteins appear to be particularly important in controlling neurotransmitter biosynthesis [55,56]. In the parotid gland, Tyr phosphorylation has a role in inducing the transition from stasis to active proliferation, and it has a potential role in mediating secretory function in the salivary glands [57]. In the cardiovascular system, Tyr phosphorylation of target proteins in the plasma membrane, the sarcoplasmic reticulum, and the myofilaments of cardiac and vascular smooth muscle cells is known to be important in regulating contraction and relaxation [58]. Tyr phosphorylation is involved in the acute action of growth factors and vasoactive peptides on smooth muscle contractility [59] and in the regulation of lymphocyte function [60]. The literature abounds with many such important roles for protein phosphorylation.

2. Detection of protein phosphorylation

Detection of protein phosphorylation requires analysis at two levels: firstly, to determine if a protein is a phosphoprotein and secondly, to identify the amino acid(s) on which phosphorylation occurs.

A number of techniques are used in phosphorylation studies to detect phosphoproteins, such as the in vivo or in vitro incorporation of ³²P, the use of specific antibodies which recognise Ser(P), Thr(P) or Tyr(P) as part of the epitope, enzymic or chemical removal of phosphate, and analysis using chromatographic methods [high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), thin-layer chromatography (TLC)], electrophoresis, or mass spectrometry (MS). Often a combination of more than one of these techniques is necessary to achieve the best results.

All the techniques for the detection of phosphoamino acids described here are suitable for both in vivo and in vitro protein phosphorylation studies, i.e., whether phosphorylation is due to intracellular kinase activity (in vivo) or due to the reaction of a (semi) purified kinase(s) (in vitro).

In vivo phosphorylation studies identify authentic modification under physiological conditions, although in many cases the kinase(s) involved are unknown. With the advent of highly sensitive techniques, such as capillary electrophoresis (CE) and MS, even minor levels of in vivo phosphorylation can be detected. Often additional studies (e.g., with labelling) are needed to understand the dynamic status of phosphorylation in vivo.

2.1. Radiolabelling

The classical approach for the detection of phosphorylation is the incorporation of radiolabelled phosphate into phosphoproteins. The use of radiolabelled phosphate to measure the phosphorylation state of enzymes began in 1956, with the demonstration that epinephrine and glucagon stimulated the phosphorylation of phosphorylase in dog liver slices [61]. This technique has been used in many systems and a selection of such studies [62-68] is given in Table 2. In vivo protein labelling involves the incubation of intact organisms, cells or tissues with $[^{32}P]$ phosphate or $[\gamma - ^{32}P]$ ATP in permeabilised cells. The next step involves the purification of the phosphorylated proteins without their further modification by cellular proteases, protein kinases, phosphatases, or protease/phosphatase inhibitors [69]. In vitro protein labelling involves incubation of a cell-free system containing a divalent cation (Mg²⁺ or Mn^{2+}), with a protein kinase [or cell fraction containing a protein kinase(s)] and $[\gamma^{-32}P]ATP$ as the substrate that serves as the phosphate donor for most protein phosphorylation reactions [69]. Usually the

starting point for analysis is the use of sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) to separate the proteins and exposure of dried gel to X-ray film to locate the ³²P-labelled phosphoproteins by autoradiography. Fig. 2 shows this scheme where radiolabelling is used as the first step to identify a candidate phosphoprotein. If the protein is already fully phosphorylated in vivo, further addition of phosphate will not occur and these phosphorylated sites will not be detected. Therefore, one can get a misleading impression of the in vivo phosphorylation status. Furthermore, protein kinases can have a broad specificity, and any correlation between phosphorylation observed in vitro should be further examined with studies in situ and/or in vivo to establish physiological relevance [70]. For example, it is possible that in a cell a kinase resides in a different cellular compartment to

Table 2

Some examples of phosphorylation studies using radiolabelling techniques in intact cells

Tissue	Agonist (antagonist) used	Regulation	Ref.
Rat hepatocytes	(Sp)-cAMPS and (Rp)-cAMPS, the stimulatory and inhibitory diastereomers of adenosine cyclic 3',5'-phosphorothioate	(Sp)-cAMPS increases the activity of pyruvate kinase and 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose -hepatocytes, and also blunted by (Rp)-cAMPS	[62]
Rabbit ileal epithelial cells	Ca ²⁺ ionophore A23187 Theophylline	Increasing the phosphorylation of 4–5 polypeptides Increasing the phosphorylation of three peptides, two of which had the same M_r and pI as the peptides altered by the Ca ²⁺ ionophore	[63]
	Promethazine	Decreasing the phosphorylation of one peptide which increased by Ca^{2+} ionophore	
Human monocytes	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate	Stimulating the secretion of the lysosomal enzyme <i>N</i> -acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase	[64]
Guinea pig parotid gland	Isoproterenol or carbachol	Increasing in the activities of lysophosphatidate acyltransferase, diacylglycerol kinase and diacylglycerol acyltransferase	[65]
Human platelets	Sp-5,6-dichloro-1-β-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole- 3',5'-monophosphorothioate (Sp-5,6-DCl-cBiMPS)	Both a potent and specific activator of cAMP dependent protein kinase	[66]
	8-(p-chlorophenylthio)-cAMP (8-pCPT-cAMP)	A potent activator of cAMP-PK and cGMP-PK	
Human platelets	8-p-chlorophenylthio-cGMP	Selectively activating cGMP-dependent protein kinase	[67]
Macrophages	Sodium fluoride+aluminum (AIF_4^-)	Activation of nitrogen activated protein kinase, phospholipase A2 and PtdIns-phospholipase C	[68]

J.X. Yan et al. / J. Chromatogr. A 808 (1998) 23-41



Fig. 2. Techniques for using radiolabelling to identify phosphoprotein(s).

the protein substrate, in which case the phosphorylation in vitro has little physiological significance.

Radiolabelling methods are very sensitive, and provide excellent resolution, although the in vivo method is limited to organisms or cells where label can be incorporated during growth. The major disadvantages are: (1) in order to obtain high specific labelling, relatively large amounts of ³²P in vivo or high specific activity of $[\gamma$ -³²P]ATP in vitro are required; (2) the difference in metabolic phosphorylation/dephosphorylation rates results in a different proportion of ³²P incorporation onto Ser, Thr and Tyr residues which depends also upon the labelling time [10]. Hence one must be cautious in drawing conclusions about the ratios of phosphorylated Ser, Thr and Tyr and indeed other kinds of protein phosphorylation; (3) constitutively phosphorylated proteins with a slow phosphate turnover rate may not be detected in short in vivo labelling studies.

2.2. Antibodies

Immunoblotting of cellular proteins with antibodies which recognise phosphoamino acid epitopes provides an alternative procedure to radiolabelling for detecting specific phosphoamino acids in phosphoproteins. This technique can be employed to monitor phosphorylation of proteins as they occur in sectioned material of organs or even whole animals. To identify which proteins are phosphorylated, proteins extracted from tissues can be displayed using gel electrophoresis, particularly two-dimensional (2D) SDS–PAGE, followed by Western blotting with the antibodies to detect the phosphoproteins.

Antibody detection is a sensitive method (fmol level) which is highly suitable for the detection of specific residues in individual phosphoproteins. A number of Ser(P)-, Thr(P)- and Tyr(P)-specific antibodies have been developed using specific phosphoproteins [71–73]. Interest in Tyr phosphorylation has resulted in the development of many Tyr(P)specific antibodies [74-76]. The Tyr(P) phosphorylation state of several neural proteins, phosphorylated both in vitro and in vivo, has been studied successfully using antibodies generated against either the phospho- or dephospho-form of specific proteins (or corresponding peptides) [77-79]. The potential specificity of such antibodies generated against specific phosphorylation epitopes makes site-specific phosphorylation analysis feasible, providing the relevant antibodies can be prepared. However, while the phosphoamino acid is part of the recognition epitope, it is often not the defining component for the antibody which may recognise the phosphoamino acid only in a specific phosphoprotein or peptide context.

Monoclonal anti-Ser(P), anti-Thr(P) and anti-Tyr(P) antibodies are commercially available (e.g., from Sigma) for the detection of both free phosphoamino acids and phosphoamino acid-containing proteins. These antibodies were produced using Ser(P) or Thr(P) conjugated to keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) [80], and Tyr(P) to bovine serum albumin (BSA) [81]. No cross-reactivity was observed with the corresponding non-phosphorylated amino acid, or between phosphoamino acids. However, certain proteins known to contain phosphorylated amino acids were not recognised by these antibody due to steric hindrance of the recognition site [80,81]. Thus, the specificity and selectivity of antibody detection needs to be studied for individual proteins. Nevertheless, antibody detection provides a way of identifying specific phosphoamino acids at high sensitivity with a simple procedure.

2.3. Fluorescence labelling

Another general approach to the detection of protein bound phosphate groups is to derivatise them with a molecular label such as a fluorophore [82-84]. However, the idea of this being a general technique has not yet been fully explored since many of the chemistries used also label the amino acid side chain (Asp and Glu) and C-terminal carboxylic acid. Phosphate-specific fluorescence labelling with a reagent called BO-IMI, in which a BODIPY dye is attached to a reactive imidazole group, has been developed by Wang and Giese [85] for the detection of pepsin phosphorylation (a single site on Ser68) with sensitivity at the 10 μ g (3.6 nmol) level [86]. The hydrolytic instability of acylimidazoles (the side-product from labelling the carboxylic acid group with this reagent) accounts for the specificity of BO-IMI for labelling a phosphate as opposed to a carboxyl group [85], which was proven by the lack of labelling of albumin which is not phosphorylated. The yield for the specific labelling of Ser(P) is around 50%. BO-IMI also labels some other phosphate compounds, such as 5'-dADP, 5'-dATP, 5'dGDP, glucose-6-phosphate, Thr(P), Tyr(P) and any phosphate on oligosaccarides and this could be a problem for some applications. There has not been a systematic study on the stability of this labelling. With the advent of high-resolution 2D gel electrophoresis, (phospho)protein(s) can be well resolved from nucleotides and oligonucleotides. In this area the development of a fluorescent labelling method would be useful as a sensitive and rapid screen for phosphoproteins without the use of radiolabelling.

3. Identification of phosphorylation by determination of phosphoamino acids

The techniques discussed above are used for detecting protein phosphorylation but do not give information on the specific location and quantitation of the phosphate on the protein. An alternative means for phosphoprotein detection is to screen for the presence of individual phosphoamino acids.

A scheme for the chemical identification of phosphoamino acids is presented in Fig. 3. Proteins (labelled or unlabelled) are partially hydrolysed to release the phosphoamino acids. The mixture of these phosphoamino acids is then separated by various techniques including column chromatography, TLC, or paper/gel electrophoresis. The steps used in this process are discussed in the following sections.

3.1. Hydrolysis

Partial acid, enzymatic or alkaline hydrolysis of the amide bonds of a protein can release phosphoamino acids. Theoretically, complete enzymatic hydrolysis would be the best approach for the accurate determination of the relative abundance and identity of phosphoamino acids within a protein. However, enzymatic degradation of proteins rarely goes to completion and this is a particular problem for phosphoproteins probably because the peptide bonds adjacent to phosphoamino acids are poor protease substrates [10]. In addition, the protease itself can contaminate further analyses.

More frequently, the protein sample is treated by acid or base hydrolysis. Proteolytic digestion followed by acid hydrolysis or alkaline hydrolysis may give superior yields of phosphoamino acids [14]. However, conditions which result in complete hydrolysis of the amide bonds are not satisfactory since the phosphate esters are also labile to both acid and base. The compromise of partial hydrolysis results in incomplete recovery of the phosphoamino acids. The rates of acid hydrolysis of both peptide and phosphoester bonds are affected by the nature of adjacent bonds [87]. Any method using hydrolysis to release phosphoamino acids must optimise the conditions to maximise the yield of the competing reactions of hydrolysis of the peptide bond and the phosphoester



Fig. 3. Scheme for the chemical identification of phosphoamino acids.

bond. Surprisingly, there have not been any systematic studies on the comparative rates of cleavage of peptide bonds during acid or alkaline hydrolysis. This is an old technique for releasing phosphoamino acids, but it is becoming popular again due to the adoption of methods of protein separation by SDS– PAGE and transfer to membranes [e.g., poly-(vinylidene difluoride) (PVDF) blotting]. Partial hydrolysis of proteins separated by one-dimensional (1D) or 2D gel electrophoresis is a means of screening for phosphoproteins via identification of the presence phosphoamino acids [12]. The bonus is that the nature of the phosphoamino acid is determined (see Section 3.2).

3.2. Separation of phosphoamino acids

After partial hydrolysis or enzymic cleavage the released phosphoamino acids need to be separated for their analysis.

3.2.1. TLC and/or electrophoresis (one or twodimensional)

For protein hydrolysates derived from an in vitro kinase reaction where $[\gamma^{-32}P]ATP$ (or GTP) is used as phosphoryl donor, Ser(P), Thr(P) and Tyr(P) can be separated and readily distinguished from the donor $[\gamma^{-32}P]ATP$ by using 1D TLC or electrophoresis at pH 3.5 [88]. Thin-layer electrophoresis offers good resolution of these charged substances, such as phosphate, phosphoamino acids and phosphopeptides. These separated phosphorylated compounds can then be visualised and quantitated by radioactivity, and in this case it is not necessary to remove the non-phosphorylated amino acids and peptides.

When proteins are extracted from cells radiolabelled in vivo with [³²P]orthophosphate, the analysis of the protein hydrolysates can be complicated by the presence of radioactive contaminating phosphorylated compounds. For example, nucleoside monophosphates arising from RNA degradation and ribose phosphates generated by depurination of nucleotides during acid hydrolysis will also be radioactively labelled. Thus, 2D analytical systems are required to better separate the labelled products. These systems can be configured in various ways with chromatography and/or electrophoresis as the first and/or second dimensions (Fig. 4) [13]. With these methods nucleoside monophosphates can be separated from phosphoamino acids or phosphopeptides. However, comigration has been observed either between phosphopeptides, or between phos-



Fig. 4. Separation of phosphoamino acids derived from chemical hydrolysis by (a) double chromatography system: chromatographed with solvent A in the first dimension and with solvent B in the second dimension; (b) electrophoresis and chromatography system: electrophoresed at pH 1.9 in the first dimension and chromatographed with solvent A in the second dimension; (c) double electrophoresis system: electrophoresed at pH 1.9 in the first dimension and chromatographed with solvent A in the second dimension; (c) double electrophoresis system: electrophoresed at pH 1.9 in the first dimension and pH 3.5 in the second dimension. Solvent A=isobutyric acid-0.5 M NH₄OH (5:3, v/v); solvent B=2-propanol-11.4 M HCl-water (7:1.5:1.5, v/v/v); buffer at pH 1.9=7.8% (v/v) acetic acid and 2.5% (v/v) formic acid; buffer at pH 3.5=5% (v/v) acetic acid and 0.5% (v/v) pyridine. Pi=phosphate; AMP=adenosine monophosphate; CMP=cytidine monophosphate; GMP=guanosine monophosphate.

phopeptide and non-phosphorylated peptides derived from the phosphoprotein during hydrolysis, and/or from the autodigested proteolytic enzyme in 2D TLC [89]. For further characterisation and identification it is necessary to separate these comigrating spots.

3.2.2. HPLC separation

Phosphoamino acids released by hydrolysis can be derivatised with chromophoric or fluorogenic reagents and separated, detected and quantitated by reversed-phase HPLC. Phosphoamino acid analysis is possible using the same chemistry as that used for derivatising amino acids for analysis, with modifications to the chromatography elution solvents, such as pH and hydrophobicity, to achieve optimal separation.

Table 3 summarises of a number of phosphoamino acid analysis methods using HPLC [12,16,90–97]. Over the years the separation and sensitivity of detection has improved. It is no longer necessary to radiolabel the proteins because of the improved sensitivity of detection using fluorescent derivatisation chemistries. A recent report using

Table 3

Summary of separation of phosphoamino acids using HPLC techniques

Fmoc chemistry and reversed-phase separation offers high sample throughput and high sensitivity (30 pmol protein separated by 2D PAGE and electroblotted onto PVDF) making this technique suitable for routine analysis and mass screening of phosphoproteins [12]. If the purpose of phosphoamino acid analysis is simply to determine whether Ser, Thr or Tyr is phosphorylated, then this technique represents a fast, simple and reproducible technique to achieve this goal.

3.2.3. Mass spectrometry

The basic principle of MS approaches to the detection of protein phosphorylation is a mass difference of 79.983 u (HPO₃) (or multiples) between the phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated forms of a protein, or on a change in mass of a peptide after digestion with alkaline phosphatase. The technique has the significant advantages of being rapid, direct and does not require radiolabelling or derivatisation. Various ionisation methods have been used for the analysis of phosphopeptides and phosphoproteins by MS. These include fast atom bombardment (FAB)

Ref.	Hydrolysis	Derivatisation	HPLC system	Sensitivity
[90]	4 M HCl, 110°C, 3 h	o-Phthaldialdehyde (OPA)	Anion-exchange column (Partisil-10 SAX resin), run time 60 min	10 pmol for standard phosphoamino acids; 17 pmol for myelin protein
[91]	6 M HCl, 110°C, 1–4 h	OPA	Cation-exchange column, (Durrum DC6A resin, 8 cm×0.6 cm I.D.), run time 80 min	50 pmol for standard phosphoamino acids; 4 nmol for protein
[92]	6 <i>M</i> HCl, 110°C, 1–4 h	None. Using UV absorption from amino acid at 243 nm	Ion-pair reversed-phase column (Sopherisorb 5-OD52), run time 10 min	200 pmol for standard phosphoamino acids; 25 pmol for protein
[93]	3 M KOH, 105°C, 4 h	OPA	Polymer-base reversed-phase column (Hamilton PRP-1), run time 15 min, His(P) can be analysed	30 pmol for standard phosphoamino acids
[94]	6 M HCl, 105°C, 2 h	UV absorption at 210 nm	Anion-exchange column (Partisil 10 SAX), run time 20 min	145 nmol histone, ³² P labelled
[95]	6 M HCl, 110°C, 3 h	9-Fluorenylmethyl chloroformate (Fmoc), 254 nm excitation, 313 nm emission	Anion-exchange column (Partisil 10 SAX) run time 35 min with other amino acids	479 pmol for Ser(P); 16–33 pmol for Thr(P)
[16]	6 M HCl, 110°C, 1 h	None. ³² P Cerenkov counting for protein sample, UV detection at 206 nm for standard phosphoaminoacids	Anion-exchange column, Vydac Silica and Vydac oligonucleotide, run time 60 min	286 nmol for Thr(P); 605 nmol for Ser(P); 38 nmol for Tyr(P)
[96]	6 M HCl, 110°C, 2 h	4'-Dimethylamino-azobenzene-4-sulfonyl chloride, UV absorption at 460 nm	C ₁₈ Phenomenex Ultracarb 20 reversed-phase column	120 pmol for standard phosphoamino acids; 87 nmol for protein
[97]	6 M HCl, 110°C, 4 h	Phenyl isothiocyanate, UV absorption at 254 nm	C ₁₈ reversed-phase column (Waters), 30 cm long, run time 39 min including separation of other amino acids	10 pmol for standard phosphoamino acids; 72 pmol for PVDF bound β-casein
[12]	6 M HCl, 110°C, 4 h	Fmoc, fluorescent detection 270 nm excitation, 316 nm emission	C_{18} reversed-phase column (Hepersil, 15 cm long), run time 13 min, whole system was automated	fmol level for standard phosphoamino acids; 30 pmol for 2D SDS-PAGE separated, and PVDF blotted protein

[98,99]; electrospray ionisation (ESI) [99–101]; plasma desorption [102]; matrix-assisted laser desorption ionisation (MALDI) [103,104]. It has been difficult to distinguish sulfated and phosphorylated amino acids (addition of masses of 80.066 and 79.983 u, respectively), although this may be possible with new high mass accuracy MALDI instruments which have mass accuracy at 10 ppm. Also collision-induced dissociation (CID) in electrospray tandem MS [105] can be used to produce distinguishing fragment ions.

The developments in ESI-MS–MS and MALDI time-of-flight (TOF) have improved the sensitivity of the mass determination of peptides at the fmol level [89,106–109], and the site of addition of mass of a phosphate to an amino acid can now be resolved by sequencing the peptide using CID-MS–MS (see Section 3.4.3).

3.3. Quantitation of phosphoamino acids

Quantitation of phosphoamino acids is poorly developed in comparison with the detection and identification of phosphorylation. There is always an issue when fractionating cells to ensure that recovery of the target material is quantitative. A major challenge is the phosphatase susceptibility and chemical instability of phosphoamino acids, which are fully or partially degraded by prolonged treatment with strong acids and/or bases, or other chemical treatments, as well as by enzymatic breakdown.

In antibody analysis, detection relies on the Western blotting technique, which is generally not quantitative. In MS analysis, intensity of peak height is dependent upon ionisation of the protein/peptide which can be quantitatively related to the amount of material, if appropriate internal standards are used (e.g., enzyme inhibitors [110], and lipids [111]). However, internal standards are usually available only for material that has been extensively characterised. Other techniques such as HPLC, radioactive or fluorescent labelling and derivatisation, can potentially be used to quantitate phosphorylation. In addition, the recovery of isolation procedures of phosphoproteins is very important factor [69].

3.3.1. ³²P labelling of phosphoamino acids

³²P-labelled phosphoamino acids can be located

on TLC plates or 2D SDS–PAGE by autoradiography, and be quantitated theoretically by Cerenkov radioactivity counting. Sophisticated computer techniques are needed to manage the considerable amount of data generated from the autoradiographs. As discussed in Section 2.1 the determination of the specific activity of the ³²P in the cellular pools is subject to considerable uncertainty (see also Ref. [69]). The procedure is labor intensive and takes several days to perform, but the relative amount of radiolabelled phosphate can be determined in different proteins by this method. As with any radiolabelling technique, absolute quantitation is difficult as the specific activity of the pools of the relevant radiolabelled precursors are rarely well understood.

3.3.2. HPLC

HPLC is a separation technique whereby the amount of the relevant phosphoamino acid can be quantitated by comparison of the sample peak area with phosphoamino acid standards. However, the phosphoamino acids for HPLC analysis are invariably generated by partial protein hydrolysis during which phosphoamino acids are also partially degraded and/or are not fully released from the protein. However, we have found we usually recover 10-20% of the phosphoamino acid if there are more than 50 pmol, and this gives a guide to the level of phosphorylation and definition of the phosphoamino acids [12]. Although this technique [12] is semiquantitative, it is particularly useful for prediction of the level on protein phosphorylation in a train of proteins separated by 2D PAGE to elucidate the cause of heterogeneity.

3.3.3. Chemical derivatisation and HPLC or Edman sequencing

An alternative way to quantitate Ser(P), Thr(P) and Tyr(P) is to chemically modify them to form a moiety which is stable to hydrolysis and to other harsh chemistries such as used in Edman protein sequencing and acid hydrolysis. Ser(P) can be modified by β -elimination of the phosphate in mild alkali, followed by the addition of ethanethiol, which yields the novel amino acid *S*-ethylcysteine [112]. Fig. 5 shows derivatisation of Ser(P) with ethanethiol. *S*-Ethylcysteine is stable during Edman degradation which can be assigned and quantitated



Fig. 5. The chemical reaction for β -elimination of *O*-linked phosphate or glycan from Ser, and the formation of the ethanethiol derivative, *S*-ethylcysteine.

during the sequencing [113,114]. This modification does not occur if Ser(P) is at the N- or C-terminus of the peptide, because the intermediates formed during the reaction are unstable [113].

Similarly, Thr(P) is modified chemically to β methyl-*S*-ethylcysteine by β -elimination [115]. However, the phenylthiohydantoin (PTH) derivative liberated during Edman degradation has a limited solubility in the organic transfer solvents such as ethylacetate and is not soluble at all in butyl chloride, which is used in the older gas phase sequenators. A more polar extraction solvent, like trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), solves this problem when used in solid-phase sequence analysis [115].

Edman degradation is thus an effective method for quantitating Ser(P) and Thr(P) following β -elimination and derivatisation. These modified products also survive acid hydrolysis, and can be quantitated by reversed-phase HPLC analysis [116,117]. Using a similar approach, characterisation by capillary zone electrophoresis (CZE) and laser-induced fluorescence has also been used to quantitate the Ser(P) content of peptides and proteins at less than 75 amol [118]. However, it should be noted that other covalently modified Ser and Thr residues (e.g., by glycosylation), will also undergo β -elimination and derivatisation to form the same end product. Hence this method for Ser(P) and Thr(P) quantitation may overestimate their level in cases where glycosylation is involved. In this case, it is necessary to prove that the modification is actually phosphorylation by another method, such as MS or ³²P labelling.

Differentiating between *O*-linked phosphorylation and glycosylation has become an important issue since the discovery of the *O*-GlcNAc modification to Ser/Thr [119–121]. Proteins can be phosphorylated or glycosylated at the same Ser or Thr residue. The ability to differentiate quantitatively between these two modifications will need to be developed if the significance of these alternate modifications to Ser and Thr is to be understood.

Tyr(P) cannot undergo β -elimination because the β -proton on its benzene ring cannot be easily eliminated. The anilinothiazolinone-Tyr(P)(ATZ) product in Edman degradation is insoluble in gas phase extraction solvents. For sequence analysis it requires covalent attachment of the peptide to a membrane and solid-phase sequence analysis combined with CE [115] or reversed-phase HPLC [122].

It is to be noted that the approach mentioned above involves chemical derivatisation followed by Edman sequencing, HPLC or CE quantitation techniques. In Edman degradation, during the acid or base delivery, the phosphate is β -eliminated and the resulting dehydro-amino acids rapidly form a dithiothreitol (DTT) adducts [115]. Thus if there is a fully modified Ser(P), it will exclusively form the PTH– DTT adduct of dehydroalanine, and no PTH–Ser adduct. PTH–Thr forms DTT adducts which are a series of diastereomers and are not easily detected. In contrast, *O*-HexNAc on Ser/Thr is stable in Edman degradation [123]. Thus, we believe this approach can be used for differentiation of Ser phosphorylation and glycosylation.

3.4. Sites of phosphorylation

Having detected a phosphoprotein and determined the nature of the phosphoamino acid, the location of the specific sites of phosphorylation is important information if the role of phosphorylation is to be understood.

3.4.1. Preparation of phosphopeptides

A number of techniques have been developed and used to locate phosphorylation sites in phosphoproteins. Phosphopeptide mapping has a long history and all approaches employ the strategy of degrading the phosphoprotein chemically or enzymatically into small peptides in the initial step, followed by analysis of the composition and sequence of each fragment [105,124,125].

The classical approach to identifying sites of protein phosphorylation has been pretreatment of cells with $[\gamma^{-32}P]ATP$ in vivo. Radiolabelled phosphoproteins are separated by 2D SDS-PAGE, or combinations of electrophoresis/chromatographic analysis with detection by autoradiography after exposure to X-ray film [69,126]. Alternatively, the phosphoproteins are isolated by immunoprecipitation [127,128]. The radiolabelled proteins are then enzymatically digested directly on the gel pieces or after transfer to PVDF membrane. Specific isolation of phosphopeptides has been accomplished using immobilised metal affinity chromatography (IMAC) [129]. Fe³⁺, Lu³⁺, Sc³⁺ and Th⁴⁺ ions immobilised on chelating gels have exhibited a strong affinity for phosphorylated proteins and peptides, and selectively retain them from a complex mixture. The radiolabelled peptide fragments can then be eluted and sequenced by gas-phase Edman degradation [130].

2D separation of proteolytic digests of a purified phosphoprotein using chromatography as the first dimension and electrophoresis as the second dimension on TLC plates is a technique that is well suited to analysis of radiolabelled protein samples [13]. This is a sensitive technique that requires only a few disintegrations per minute (dpm) of metabolically labelled product. The TLC material, cellulose, is inert and the peptides can be recovered for secondary analysis, such as determining amino acid composition and sequence, or determining the presence and position of phosphoamino acid residues.

However, peptide-mapping experiments are tedious, especially when radiolabelling is involved, and they are often complicated by errors derived from sample preparation, leading to inconclusive results. Large sample losses can result from the in situ enzymatic cleavage reaction and in the recovery of peptides from the gel or PVDF membrane.

3.4.2. Edman degradation sequencing

As discussed in Section 3.3.3, except for Ser(P) at the N- or C- terminus of a protein/peptide, Ser(P) can be identified (and hence sites identified and

quantitated) using conventional gas phase Edman sequencing. Tyr(P) and Thr(P) can be analysed using solid-phase Edman sequencing. Another modified sequencing technique which applies not only to the quantitation of Ser(P) but also Tyr(P) and Thr(P), involves the measurement of ³²P-phosphate or other phosphorylated degradation products at the position of the phosphorylated residue during Edman degradation [131,132]. This is typically achieved by measuring the label present in the ATZ-Xaa transfer, as the eliminated phosphate is transferred with the amino acid. The alternative approach is to excise pieces of the sample membrane and count the ${}^{32}P$ following the cleavage of the candidate Ser/Thr/ Tyr. However, if the washing of the membrane is exclusively non-polar, a lot of counts may remain on the membrane following elimination, making the carryover of label high in subsequent cycles. However, the detection of ³²P radioactivity is the only criterion for localising the phosphorylated amino acid by this approach. For example, if an amino acid were modified with a phosphorylated sugar this would be assumed to be direct phosphorylation. Obviously this technique requires a phosphoprotein which has been labelled in vivo or in vitro.

3.4.3. Mass spectrometry

As introduced in Section 3.2.3, the mass spectrometric method is a direct, rapid and powerful technique for protein phosphorylation studies. The localisation of phosphorylation sites can be conveniently divided into either peptide mass-mapping approaches [104,133,134] or direct MS sequencing [135]. Both parent scans [108,136] and in-source fragmentation with on-line LC–MS techniques [137,138] are widely used to identify modified peptides in protein digests.

Mass mapping of peptides to identify sites of phosphorylation relies solely on the mass determination of intact peptides enzymatically or chemically derived from phosphoproteins which contain a single Ser, Thr or Tyr. Phosphorylated peptide fragments will show a mass shift of 79.983 u increments (for each phosphate group modification) from the predicted peptide masses. The presence of a phosphate group can be detected or confirmed by MALDI–MS using mass determination before and after enzymatic dephosphorylation with alkaline phosphatase [104,139]. If two or more potential phosphorylation sites are present in a single peptide, the modified residue(s) can be identified by MS only if a secondary digest can hydrolyse the peptide bond between the possible sites. MALDI-TOF mass mapping has also been used successfully to identify phosphorylation sites without ambiguity in pmol quantities of phosphoproteins derived from biological sources [104,133,139]. Using an on-line enzyme reactor and ESI-MS, low pmol amounts of a Tyr(P) containing peptide were detected in a complex peptide mixture generated by proteolysis of a protein [140].

Most studies using MS–MS sequencing to locate the phosphorylated amino acid are reported on peptides with Tyr phosphorylation [89,141,142] because Tyr(P) is stable under the MS conditions, whereas Ser(P) and Thr(P) are less stable [89]. However, phosphorylation on Ser/Thr has been established using MS–MS [109,143–145].

Mass spectrometric sequencing approaches rely on fragmentation of peptide bonds during the analysis. From the fragment masses, the relative order of individual amino acids can be determined in the polypeptide chain. This method has the advantage of not requiring the protein sequence to be known in advance. The sensitivity has been extended into the low fmol range by analysing the peptides from protease digests by ESI-MS at high pH, and through the use of an ultra-low flow "nanospray" device [108,146]. MS–MS has been used to obtain the sequences of several of the identified phosphopeptides at the low fmol level [135].

With its high sensitivity and wide availability, MS will play an important role in protein phosphorylation studies in the detection of phosphorylation, and in the site specification of phosphoamino acids. However, it is yet to be able to quantitate the degree of phosphorylation at a specific site.

3.5. Proteome phosphorylation strategy

A fundamental change in protein chemistry is now occurring with emergence of the field of "proteomics" which aims to identify and characterise all proteins expressed by an organism or tissue [147]. Proteomics is based on the suite of technologies required to separate large numbers of proteins, identify them and study their modifications. Proteome strategies have been proposed for the mass screening of proteins from biological samples using a hierarchy of technologies with the high-throughput/least cost methods followed by low-throughput/higher cost methods [148–153]. MS has become a key technology in the emerging field given its potential for rapid and highly sensitive identification of proteins [154–158].

The capability to analyse protein isoforms generated by post-translational modifications is a powerful feature of the proteome approach, allowing their impact on protein structure and function to be investigated. In our proteome studies we are applying the following strategy for analysing protein phosphorylation:

Proteome mapping: proteins are separated on a "proteome map" using 2D PAGE technology, and then identified utilising the mass screening approach [147]. Analysis of post-translational modifications normally focuses on a sub-set of proteins likely to be of most significance in the system under study as of course the analysis is necessarily more time assuming than the initial protein identification.

Detection and identification: the selected "spots" from the proteome map are analysed to determine the presence of phosphoamino acids utilising hydrolysis followed by HPLC [12]. This technology has the advantage of allowing high throughput together with sensitivity at the level of an "amido-black spot" (>10 pmol). Prefractionation techniques utilising metal affinity enriched chromatography [129] and narrow range immobilised pH gradient strip [159,160] allow high loading to handle low abundance proteins in regions of interest. Trains of spots where difference in isoelectric point is observed are of interest for possible differential protein phosphorylation.

Quantitation: for Ser(P)/Thr(P), chemical derivatisation followed by HPLC/Edman sequencing [113,115], and for Tyr(P) direct Edman sequencing [115,122] represent the only available techniques for quantitation in the context of proteome studies at this time. The level of expression under different conditions offers potentially important insights but these come at a cost as quantitation analysis is towards to low-throughput/slower end of the technology hierarchy.

Site characterisation: MS–MS sequencing is a powerful approach [108,136–138]. In the case of multiple sites, Edman sequencing is often the only practicable approach. Again, the techniques of site characterisation are at the low-throughput end of the proteome technology hierarchy but offers high sensitivity.

4. Conclusions

We have overviewed the key steps involved in protein phosphorylation studies: (1) detection – "are there any phosphoamino acids present in the protein?" i.e., "is the protein phosphorylated?", (2) identification – "what is the phosphoprotein?", (3) quantitation – "how much is present?" and (4) site characterisation – "where are the sites of individual phosphoamino acids?" Each step has been addressed strategically in terms of how it should be approached and the current status of available technologies reviewed (see summary in Table 4).

In conclusion, detection of protein phosphorylation can be achieved by radiolabelling, antibody recognition and phosphoamino acid chromatography, all with fmol sensitivity. Advanced protein chemistries, including Edman sequencing and MS–MS

Ta	ы	e	4
	~-		

Summary of technologies used in protein phosphorylation analysis

analysis can then complete the characterisation of the phosphoprotein(s) and/or phosphoamino acid(s). Thus, it is now possible to rapidly study protein phosphorylation in a much wider range of proteins than previously thought possible.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge support from the Australia Research Council and National Health and Medical Research Council for support of their Analytical Biotechnology Research. J.X.Y. acknowledges financial support through a MUCAB postgraduate scholarship at Macquarie University. We thank Luisa Tonella, Marc Wilkins, Jean-Charles Sanchez and Denis Hochstrasser for their input into our joint research programs on phosphoamino acid analysis.

References

- [1] M.D. Sjaastad, W.J. Nelson, Bioessays 19 (1997) 47.
- [2] A.F. Lau, W.E. Kurata, M.Y. Kanemitsu, L.W. Loo, B.J. Warn-Cramer, W. Eckhart, P.D. Lampe, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 28 (1996) 359.
- [3] D. Cantrell, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 14 (1996) 259.

Technology	Detection	Phosphoamino acid analysis	Quantitation	Site determination
³² P labelling	+	-	+	_
Antibodies	+	+	-	-
MS (on whole protein)	+	_	$+^{a}$	-
Enzymic digestion				
(a) 1D or 2D TLC	+	_	-	+ ^b
(b) Derivatisation/Edman sequencing	+	+	+ °	+
(c) MS–MS	+	$+^{d}$	+	$+^{d}$
Hydrolysis				
(a) HPLC	+	+	+ ^e	_
(b) TLC	+	+	_	_

^a If appropriate internal standards are used.

^b If a single phosphorylation site is contained in the peptide.

^c Cannot differentiate between phosphorylation and glycosylation, if derivatisation is carried out prior to Edman sequencing.

^d Mainly Tyr(P), Ser(P) and Thr(P) are unstable and therefore difficult to study.

^e Only a semi-quantitative.

- [4] W. Pyerin, H. Taniguchi, EMBO J. 8 (1989) 3003.
- [5] J. Martinez, T. Haavik, T. Flatmark, J.L.R. Arrondo, A. Muga, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 19737.
- [6] P.J. Kennelly, M. Potts, J. Bacteriol. 178 (1996) 4759.
- [7] Y. Shibagaki, H. Gotoh, M. Kato, K. Mizumoto, J. Biochem. Tokyo 118 (1995) 1303.
- [8] M. Kuba, H. Ohmori, A. Kumon, Eur. J. Biochem. 208 (1992) 747.
- [9] M. Meins, P. Jeno, D. Muller, W.J. Richter, J.P. Rosenbusch, B. Erni, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 11604.
- [10] J.A. Cooper, B.M. Sefton, T. Hunter, Methods Enzymol. 99 (1983) 387.
- [11] L. Bitte, D. Kabat, Methods Enzymol. 30 (1991) 563.
- [12] J.X. Yan, N.H. Packer, L. Tonella, K. Ou, M.R. Wilkins, J.-C. Sanchez, A.A. Gooley, D.F. Hoschasstre, K.L. Williams, J. Chromatogr. A 764 (1997) 201.
- [13] B. Duclos, S. Marcandier, A.J. Cozzone, Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 10.
- [14] H.H. Pas, G.T. Robillard, Biochemistry 27 (1988) 5835.
- [15] T.M. Martensen, R.L. Levine, Methods Enzymol. 99 (1983) 402.
- [16] M. Weller, Protein Phosphorylation, Pion, London, 1979, p. 3.
- [17] M.C. McCroskey, J.R. Colca, J.D. Pearson, J. Chromatogr. 442 (1988) 307.
- [18] D.E. Hultquist, R.W. Moyer, P.D. Boyer, Biochemistry 5 (1966) 322.
- [19] W.F. Loomis, G. Shaulsky, N. Wang, J. Cell Sci. 110 (1997) 1141.
- [20] A.H. Schonthal, Cancer Biol. 6 (1995) 239.
- [21] J. Domin, M.D. Waterfield, FEBS Lett. 410 (1997) 91.
- [22] M.R. Picciotto, K.L. Nastiuk, A.C. Nairn, Adv. Pharmacol. 36 (1996) 251.
- [23] A.C. Newton, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 28495.
- [24] M. Kretzschmar, F. Liu, A. Hata, J. Doody, J. Massague, Genes Dev. 11 (1997) 984.
- [25] D.R. Alessi, F.B. Caudwell, M. Andjelkovic, B.A. Hemmings, P. Cohen, FEBS Lett. 399 (1996) 333.
- [26] P. Beguin, M.C. Peitsch, K. Geering, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 14098.
- [27] X. Yang, J. Goncalves, D. Gabuzda, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 10121.
- [28] A.B. Dash, F.C. Orrico, S.A. Ness, Genes Dev. 10 (1995) 1858.
- [29] T.L. Fisher, J. Blenis, Mol. Cell Biol. 16 (1996) 1212.
- [30] J. Landry, H. Lambert, M. Zhou, J.N. Lavoie, E. Hickey, L.A. Weber, C.W. Anderson, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 794.
- [31] H. Higashi, I. Suzuki-Takahashi, Y. Taya, K. Segawa, S. Nishimura, M. Kitagawa, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commum. 216 (1995) 520.
- [32] B. Yao, Y. Zhang, S. Delikat, S. Mathias, S. Basu, R. Kolesnick, Nature 378 (1995) 307.
- [33] K. Forchhammer, N. Tandeau-de-Marsac, J. Bacteriol. 177 (1995) 5812.
- [34] C.J. Fiol, J.S. Williams, C.H. Chou, Q.M. Wang, P.J. Roach, O.M. Andrisani, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 32187.
- [35] S.D. Yang, T.J. Huang, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 29855.

- [36] J.C. Lee, Y.G. Kwon, D.S. Lawrence, A.M. Edelman, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 6413.
- [37] E.S. Sorensen, T.E. Petersen, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 198 (1994) 200.
- [38] P.A. Price, J.S. Rice, M.K. Williamson, Protein Sci. 3 (1994) 822.
- [39] E.S. Sorensen, P. Hojrup, T.E. Petersen, Protein Sci. 4 (1995) 2040.
- [40] C.W. Scott, P.R. Vulliet, C.B. Caputo, Brain Res. 611 (1993) 237.
- [41] M. Suzuki, H. Sohma, M. Yazawa, K. Yagi, S. Ebashi, J. Biochem. Tokyo 108 (1990) 356.
- [42] C.S. Hill, L.C. Packman, J.O. Thomas, EMBO J. 9 (1990) 805.
- [43] P.S. Shneidman, M.J. Carden, J.F. Lees, R.A. Lazzarini, Brain Res. 464 (1988) 214.
- [44] P. Garcia, S.E. Shoelson, S.T. George, D.A. Hinds, A.R. Goldberg, W.T. Miller, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 25146.
- [45] J.M. Teng, P.D. King, A. Sadra, X. Liu, A. Han, A. Selvakumar, A. August, B. Dupont, Tissue Antigens 48 (1996) 255.
- [46] B.E. Lavan, W.S. Lane, G.E. Lienhard, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 11439.
- [47] P.D. Tahiliani, L. Singh, K.L. Auer, S.E. LaFlamme, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 7892.
- [48] A.R. Venkitaraman, R.J. Cowling, Eur. J. Immunol. 24 (1994) 2168.
- [49] J.H. Till, R.S. Annan, S.A. Carr, W.T. Miller, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 7423.
- [50] Y. Jiang, Z. Li, E.M. Schwarz, A. Lin, K. Guan, R.J. Ulevitch, J. Han, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 11096.
- [51] Y. Ward, S. Gupta, P. Jensen, M. Wartmann, R.J. Davis, K. Kelly, Nature 367 (1994) 651.
- [52] M. Hao, A.M. Lowy, M. Kapoor, A. Deffie, G. Liu, G. Lozano, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 29380.
- [53] M. Montenarh, Oncogene 7 (1992) 1673.
- [54] J.A. Adams, M.L. McGlone, R. Gibson, S.S. Taylor, Biochemistry 34 (1995) 2447.
- [55] M.S. Magnoni, S. Govoni, F. Battaini, M. Trabucchi, Life Sci. 48 (1991) 373.
- [56] S.I. Walaas, P. Greengard, Pharmacol. Rev. 43 (1991) 299.
- [57] K.R. Purushotham, M.G. Humphreys-Beher, Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med. 6 (1995) 119.
- [58] P. Karczewski, S. Bartel, E.-G. Krause, Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 2 (1993) 233.
- [59] A.K. Srivastava, Mol. Cell Biochem. 149 (1995) 87.
- [60] R.M. Perlmutter, S.D. Levin, M.W. Appleby, S.J. Anderson, J. Alberola-Ila, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11 (1993) 451.
- [61] T.W. Rall, E.W. Sutherland, W.D. Wosilait, J. Biol. Chem. 218 (1956) 218.
- [62] P.A. Connelly, L.H. Botelho, R.B. Sisk, J.C. Garrison, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 4324.
- [63] G.W. Sharp, C. Hannah-White, M. El-Sabban, M.E. Cohen, M. Donowitz, FEBS Lett 221 (1987) 309.
- [64] B.A. Kelly, R.A. Carchman, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 17404.
- [65] H.D. Soling, W. Fest, T. Schmidt, H. Esselmann, V. Bachmann, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 10643.

- [66] M. Sandberg, E. Butt, C. Nolte, L. Fischer, M. Halbrugge, J. Beltman, T. Jahnsen, H.G. Genieser, B. Jastorff, U. Walter, Biochem. J. 279 (1991) 521.
- [67] E. Butt, C. Nolte, S. Schulz, J. Beltman, J.A. Beavo, B. Jastorff, U. Walter, Biochem. Pharmacol. 43 (1992) 2591.
- [68] R. Goldman, Y. Granot, U. Zor, J. Basic Clin. Physiol. Pharmacol. 6 (1995) 79.
- [69] J.C. Garrison, in D.G. Hardie (Editor), Protein Phosphorylation – A Practical Appraoch, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1992, p. 1.
- [70] R.J.A. Budde, G.P. Holbrook, R. Chollet, Arch. Biochim. Biophys. 242 (1985) 283.
- [71] L. Otvos Jr., L. Feiner, E. Lang, G.I. Szendrei, V.M.-Y. Lee, J. Neurosci. Res. 39 (1994) 669.
- [72] J.Y. Zhao, J. Kuang, R.C. Adlakha, P.N. Rao, FEBS Lett. 249 (1989) 389.
- [73] M.B. Flick, E. Sapi, P.L. Perrotta, M.G. Maher, R. Halaban, D. Carter, B.M. Kacinski, Oncogene 14 (1997) 2553.
- [74] A.H. Ross, D. Baltimore, H.N. Eisen, Nature 294 (1981) 654.
- [75] J.Y.J. Wang, Anal. Biochem. 172 (1988) 1.
- [76] M. Goldstein, K.Y. Lee, J.Y. Lew, K. Harada, J. Wu, J.W. Haycock, T. Hokfelt, A.Y. Deutch, J. Neurochem. 64 (1995) 2281.
- [77] A.C. Nairn, J.A. Girault, J.Y.C. Chen, A.J. Czernik, J.W. Kebabian, J.A. Nathanson, P. Greengard, Nature 299 (1982) 734.
- [78] A.J. Czernik, J.A. Girault, A.C. Nairn, J. Chen, G. Snyder, J. Kebabian, P. Greengard, Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 264.
- [79] G.L. Snyder, J.A. Girault, J.Y.C. Chen, A.J. Czernik, J.W. Kebabian, J.A. Naathanson, P. Greengard, J. Neurosci. 12 (1992) 3071.
- [80] K.I. Abu-Lawi, B.M. Sultzer, Infect. Immun. 63 (1995) 498.
- [81] H. Arad-Dann, U. Beller, R. Haimovitch, Y. Gavrieli, S.A. Ben-Sasson, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 41 (1993) 513.
- [82] M.G. Ivanovskays, Nucleosides Nucleotides 6 (1987) 913.
- [83] A.N. Al-Deen, D.C. Cecchini, S. Abdel-Baky, N.M.A. Moneam, R.W. Giese, J. Chromatogr. 512 (1990) 409.
- [84] R. Jain, M. Sharma, Cancer Res. 53 (1993) 2771.
- [85] P. Wang, R.W. Giese, Anal. Chem. 65 (1993) 3518.
- [86] P. Wang, R.W. Giese, Anal. Biochem. 230 (1995) 329.
- [87] D.B. Bylund, T.-S. Huang, Anal. Biochem. 73 (1976) 477.
- [88] T. Hunter, B.M. Sefton, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77 (1980) 1311.
- [89] M. Affolter, J.D. Watts, D.L. Krebs, R. Aebersold, Anal. Biochem. 223 (1994) 74.
- [90] J.C. Yang, J.M. Fujitaki, R.A. Smith, Anal. Biochem. 122 (1982) 360.
- [91] J.-P. Capony, J.G. Demaille, Anal. Biochem. 128 (1983) 206.
- [92] N. Morrice, A. Aitken, Anal. Biochem. 148 (1985) 207.
- [93] L. Carlomagno, V.D. Huebner, H.R. Matthews, Anal. Biochem. 149 (1985) 344.
- [94] J.C. Robert, A. Soumaarmon, M.J.M. Lewin, J. Chromatogr. 338 (1985) 315.
- [95] J.S. Niedbalski, D.P. Ringer, Anal. Biochem. 158 (1986) 138.
- [96] D.A. Malencik, Z. Zhao, S.R. Anderson, Anal. Biochem. 184 (1990) 353.
- [97] L.R. Murthy, K. Iqbal, Anal. Biochem. 193 (1991) 299.

- [98] C.F.B. Holmes, N.K. Tonks, H. Major, P. Cohen, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 929 (1987) 208.
- [99] M. Kouach, D. Belaiche, M. Jaquinod, M. Couppez, D. Kmiecik, G. Ricart, A. Van Dorsselaer, P. Sautiere, G. Briand, Biol. Mass Spectrom. 22 (1994) 283.
- [100] J.D. Watts, M. Affolter, D.L. Krebs, R.L. Wange, L.E. Samelson, R. Aebersold, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 29520.
- [101] K.A. Resing, S.J. Mansour, A.S. Hermann, R.S. Johnson, J.M. Candis, K. Fukasawa, G.F. Vande Woude, N.G. Ahn, Biochemistry 34 (1995) 2610.
- [102] R.D. MacFarlane, D.F. Torgenson, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys. 21 (1976) 81.
- [103] P.-C. Liao, J. Leykam, P.C. Andrews, D.A. Gage, J. Allison, Anal. Biochem. 219 (1994) 9.
- [104] E.J. Zaluzec, D.A. Gage, J.T. Watson, Protein Expr. Purif. 6 (1995) 109.
- [105] K. Metzger, P.A. Rchberger, G. Erben, W.D. Lehmann, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 4178.
- [106] K. Biemann, H.A. Scoble, Science 237 (1987) 992.
- [107] M.J. Huddleston, R.S. Annan, M.F. Bean, S.A. Carr, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 4 (1993) 710.
- [108] S.A. Carr, M.J. Huddleston, R.S. Annan, Anal. Biochem. 239 (1996) 180.
- [109] R.S. Annan, S.A. Carr, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 3413.
- [110] J. Wu, S. Takayama, C.H. Wong, G. Siuzdak, Chem. Biol. 4 (1997) 653.
- [111] B. Brugger, G. Erben, R. Sandhoff, F.T. Wieland, W.D. Lehmann, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 2339.
- [112] H.E. Meyer, E. Hoffman-Posorke, H. Korte, L.M.G. Heilmeyer, FEBS Lett. 204 (1986) 61.
- [113] H.E. Meyer, E. Hoffmann-Posorske, L.M.G. Heilmeyer Jr., Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 169.
- [114] H.E. Meyer, E. Hoffmann-Posorske, A. Donella-Deana, H. Korte, Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 206.
- [115] H.E. Meyer, B. Eisermann, M. Heber, E. Hoffmann-Posorske, H. Korte, C. Weigt, A. Wegner, T. Huttton, A. Donella-Deana, J.W. Perich, FASEB J. 7 (1993) 776.
- [116] H.E. Meyer, K. Swiderek, E. Hoffmann-Posorske, H. Korte, L.G. Heilmeyer Jr., J. Chromatogr. 397 (1987) 113.
- [117] C.F. Holmes, FEBS Lett. 215 (1987) 21.
- [118] P. Fadden, T.A.J. Haystead, Anal. Biochem. 225 (1995) 81.
- [119] C.-R. Torres, G.W. Hart, J. Biol. Chem. 259 (1984) 3308.
- [120] G.H. Hart, L.K. Kreppel, F.I. Comer, C.S. Arnold, D.M. Snow, Z. Ye, X. Cheng, D. DellaManna, D.S. Caine, B.J. Earles, Y. Akimoto, R.N. Cole, B.K. Hayes, Glycobiology 6 (1996) 711.
- [121] R. Aebersold, J.D. Watts, H.D. Morrison, E.J. Bures, Anal. Biochem. 199 (1991) 51.
- [122] R.S. Haltiwanger, S. Busby, K. Grove, S. Li, D. Mason, L. Medina, D. Moloney, G. Philipsberg, R. Scartozzi, Biochim. Biophys. Res. Commun. 231 (1997) 237.
- [123] A.A. Gooley, K.L. Williams, Nature 358 (1997) 557.
- [124] W.J. Boyle, P. van der Geer, T. Hunter, Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 110.
- [125] P.J. Roach, Y. Wang, Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 200.
- [126] P. van der Geer, K. Luo, B.M. Sefton and T. Hunter, in D.G. Hardie (Editor), Protein Phosphorylation – A Practical Approach, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1992, p. 31.
- [127] P. Matsudaira, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 10035.

- [128] S. Yuen, K. Chui, K. Wilson and P. Yuan, Protein Sequencer User Bulletin, No. 36, Applied Biosystems, 1988, p. 4.
- [129] L. Anderson, J. Porath, Anal. Biochem. 154 (1986) 250.
- [130] K.S. De Jongh, E.I. Rotman and B.J. Murphy, in R. Hogue-Angeletti (Editor), Techniques in Protein Chemistry IV, Academic Press, New York, 1993, p. 179.
- [131] R.E.H. Wettenhall, R. Aebersold, L.E. Hood, Methods Enzymol. 201 (1991) 186.
- [132] J.E. Bodwell, E. Orti, J.M. Coull, D.J.G. Pappiu, L.I. Smith,
 F. Swift, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 7549.
- [133] W. Zhang, A.J. Czernik, T. Yungwirth, R. Aebersold, B.T. Chait, Protein Sci. 3 (1994) 677.
- [134] T.T. Yip, T.W. Hutchens, FEBS Lett. 308 (1992) 149.
- [135] I.A. Papayannopoulos, Mass Spectrom. Rev. 14 (1995) 49.
- [136] M. Wilm, G. Neubauer, M. Mann, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 527.
- [137] R.S. Annan, S.A. Carr, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 3413.
- [138] P.T. Jedrzejewski, W.D. Lehmann, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 294.
- [139] Y.K. Wang, P.-C. Liao, J. Allison, D. A Gage, P.G. Andrews, D.M. Lubman, S.M. Hanash, J.R. Strahler, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 14269.
- [140] L.N. Amankwa, K. Harder, F. Jirik, R. Aebersold, Protein Sci. 4 (1995) 113.
- [141] J. Hou, K. McKeehan, M. Kan, S.A. Carr, M.J. Huddleston, J.W. Crabb, W.L. McKeeham, Protein Sci. 2 (1993) 86.
- [142] M.A. Kelly, H. Liang, I.I. Sytwu, I. Vlattas, N.L. Lyons, B.R. Bowen, L.P. Wennogle, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 11747.
- [143] K. Palczewski, J. Buczylko, P. Van Hooser, S.A. Carr, M.J. Huddleston, J.W. Crabb, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 18991.
- [144] M. Quadroni, P. James, E. Carafoli, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 16116.
- [145] H. Taniguchi, M. Suzuki, S. Manenti, K. Titani, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 22481.

- [146] M. Wilm, M. Mann, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Processes 136 (1994) 167.
- [147] M.R. Wilkins, J.-C. Sanchez, A.A. Gooley, R.D. Appel, I. Himphery-Smith, D.F. Hochstrasser, K.L. Williams, Biotechnol. Genetic Eng. Rev. 13 (1995) 19.
- [148] J.X. Yan, L. Tonella, J.-C. Sanchez, M.R. Wilkins, N.H. Packer, A.A. Gooley, D.F. Hochstrasser, K.L. Williams, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 491.
- [149] B.R. Herbert, M.P. Molloy, J.X. Yan, A.A. Gooley, W.G. Bryson, K.L. Williams, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 568.
- [150] M.P. Molloy, B.R. Herbert, J.X. Yan, K.L. Williams, A.A. Gooley, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 1073.
- [151] S. Liberatori, L. Bini, C. De Felice, B. Magi, B. Marzocchi, R. Raggiaschi, V. Pallini, R. Bracci, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 520.
- [152] H. Ji, G.E. Reid, R.L. Moritz, J.S. Eddes, A.W. Burgess, R.J. Simpson, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 605.
- [153] L. Anderson, J. Seilhamer, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 533.
- [154] D. Figeys, R. Aebersold, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 360.
- [155] P.L. Courchesne, R. Luethy, S.D. Patterson, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 369.
- [156] M.R. Wilkins, I. Lindskog, E. Gasteiger, A. Bairoch, J.-C. Sanchez, D.F. Hochstrasser, R.D. Appel, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 403.
- [157] T. Larsson, J. Norbeck, H. Karlsson, K.-A. Karisson, A. Blomberg, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 418.
- [158] C.W. Sutton, C.H. Wheeler, U. Sally, J.M. Corbett, J.S. Cottrell, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 424.
- [159] B. Bjellqvist, C. Hughes, C. Pasquali, N. Paquet, F. Ravier, J.-C. Sanchez, S. Frutiger, D.F. Hochstrasser, Electrophoresis 14 (1993) 1357.
- [160] P.G. Righetti, A. Bossi, A. Gorg, C. Obermaier, G. Boguth, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods 31 (1996) 81.